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PLAINTIFF=S CROSS MOTION FOR 


SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND OPPOSITION TO 


DEFENDANT=S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
Plaintiff, Quinn Bouley, on her own behalf and on behalf of her minor children, through counsel, submits this Cross Motion for Summary Judgment and Opposition to Defendant=s Motion for Summary Judgment.  Plaintiff  relies on the following Memorandum of Law and the Statement of Disputed and Undisputed Facts, with accompanying declarations and exhibits, in support of her Cross Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Defendant=s Motion for Summary Judgment.   Plaintiff, not defendant, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law for the reasons set forth in the following Memorandum of Law.  


I.   PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

A.  Introduction
This civil rights action presents issues of critical importance to female victims of domestic violence.  Although there has been tremendous progress in understanding and vindicating the legal rights of women who have experienced domestic violence, women continue to be victimized at high rates by their male partners.
  In part, these high rates of domestic violence persist because many female victims who try to end an abusive relationship encounter various forms of discrimination practiced by third parties:  landlords, employers and child welfare agencies.
   As the facts in this case illustrate, housing discrimination against victims of domestic violence causes many women to make a desperate choice between remaining in an abusive relationship or ending the relationship and risking eviction and homelessness.
  


B.  Facts
Plaintiff, Quinn Bouley, is a young working mother of two children.   On October 15, 2003, starting around 8 p.m., Ms. Bouley=s husband, Daniel Swedo, physically assaulted and terrorized her in her home.  As Ms. Bouley was trying to protect herself by calling 911, her husband ripped the phone off the wall.
  Fortunately the call registered in police headquarters and the police were dispatched to the apartment.  There they found Ms. Bouley outside.  She was hysterical and couldn=t speak.  (Affidavit of Police Office Mary Griswold, St. Albans Police Department, and Affidavit of Ptl. Howard P. McGuire, St. Albans City Police attached as Exhibit A.)

The police interviewed Ms. Bouley in the home of Windee Young (Young Dep. at 31:9-14).  Ms. Young--who is the defendant=s daughter-in-law, property manager and agentBresides in a separate house on the same premises as Ms. Bouley=s apartment building.  Ms. Young saw the police arrest Ms. Bouley=s husband (Young Dep. 30:9-10).  He was charged with assault, unlawful mischief and restraint, first degree (Declaration of Quinn Bouley, paragraph 27).  When Ms. Bouley left Ms. Young=s home that night she went to police headquarters and obtained a temporary restraining order (Id., paragraph 26).  Her husband eventually pled guilty and was convicted of all three charges (Id., paragraph 27).  

 The next morning Windee Young called the defendant, Ms. Bouley=s landlord, to let her know about the incident.  According to both women, Ms. Young told the defendant that she thought Ms. Bouley  was Aoverreacting.@  AShe didn=t see any marks on her face or whatever.@  (Young Sabourin Dep. at 53:17-25).   Ms. Young=s judgment was that Ms. Bouley was Aacting funny@ that night and Ms. Young doubted that she had been beaten.  AI felt like there was an argument and maybe a struggle.@  (Young Dep. at 35:11-24 ).  AIt didn=t look like she had been beaten (Id., at 36:4-5).  AShe wasn=t in shock, she wasn=t concerned about her husband, she wasn=t B she didn=t have any marks on her that I could see.  She just looked upset, but she didn=t look like she had been beaten.@ (Id., 35:14-18). 

 Ms. Young testified that she considered plaintiff=s behavior odd because A[i]f my husband hit me, I wouldn=t say that=s it, I=m getting a divorce, I would be concerned why he hit me, what was the matter with my husband what was troubling him to have gotten so angry to hit me B to strike out at me.  I wouldn=t be calling myself a victim of domestic violence unlessBbecause to me I would have been in shock, I would have been like what just happened, I cannot believe my husband just beat me if I was innocent and didn=t you know, and it had never happened before. I would be in shock, and I would be worried about my husband too being arrested and not knowing where he was or if he was okay.  (Young Dep. at 44:8-21).   

 After she spoke with Ms. Young the defendant made a list of reasons for evicting Ms. Bouley, (Exhibit B; Young-Sabourin Dep. at 60:20-23) and she made arrangements to meet with Ms. Bouley to discuss Acomplaints@ she had received (Young-Sabourin Dep. at 62:7-12).  This meeting occurred two days later in Ms. Bouley=s apartment.    

The following facts are undisputed.  At the end of the meeting there was a brief heated exchange between Ms. Bouley and her landlord.  It lasted maybe a minute or two (Young-Sabourin, dep. at 93:19-25).  This exchange occurred after Ms. Bouley told her landlord that she did not want to discuss religion with her, because it was a personal matter. (Young-Sabourin, dep. at 85:23-25).  Defendant admitted that she wanted to engage Ms. Bouley in an ongoing conversation about Ms. Bouley=s religious beliefs but Ms. Bouley refused (Young-Sabourin dep. 92:4-21). 

After this meeting--and less than 72 hours after Mr. Swedo had been arrested for his criminal assault against Ms. Bouley--defendant sent Ms. Bouley a letter to terminate her tenancy.  This letter expresses the defendant=s version of Ms. Bouley=s behavior during their brief verbal exchange and then clearly blames Ms. Bouley for the Aviolence which has been occurring in your apartment.@  

 Defendant admitted that she would not have attempted to evict Ms. Bouley if Ms. Bouley had told her that she received strength from her faith (Young-Sabourin, dep. at 86:21-25; 87:1-3). Defendant admitted that she did not consider Ms. Bouley to be a victim of domestic violence because she Adidn=t see [Ms. Bouley=s] behavior as anywheres near normal for a woman that had been victimized.@ (Young-Sabourin dep.95:17-18).   Finally, the record clearly demonstrates that the catalyst for the chain of events which led defendant to try to evict Ms.Bouley was the domestic violence which occurred on October 15, 2003.

B.  Standard of Review


1.   Summary Judgment
The standard for granting summary judgment is a stringent one.  United States v. Branella, 972 F. Supp. 294, 297 (D.N.J. 1997).  Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986); Chertkova v. Connecticut Gen. Life Ins. Co., 92 F.3d 81, 86 (2d Cir. 1996).  The court=s function Ais not to weigh the evidence, make credibility determinations or resolve issues of fact, but rather to determine whether, drawing all reasonable inferences from the evidence presented in favor of the non-moving party, a fair-minded jury could find in the non-moving party=s favor.@  Beatie v. City of New York, 123 F. 3d 707, 710-11 (2d Cir. 1994) (citing United States v. Rem, 38 F.3d 634, 644 (2d Cir. 1994). 

2.  Fair Housing Act
Courts must consider the substantive law  when ruling on motions for summary judgment.  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986).   The substantive law in this case is the federal Fair Housing Act. 42 U.S.C. '' 3601 et seq.  Also known as Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, the Fair Housing Act originally prohibited housing discrimination based on race, color, religion, and national origin.   Sex as a category of prohibited discrimination was added in 1974.  Handicap and familial status were added as protected categories by the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988.  
Defendant violated several separate provisions of the Fair Housing Act.  First she claims that defendant violated 42 U.S.C. '3604(a) based on defendant=s attempt to evict her because of her sex and because of her religion.  Second plaintiff claims that defendant violated 42 U.S.C. '3604(b) by imposing different terms and conditions on plaintiff  because of her sex and because of her religion.   Third she claims that defendant violated 42 U.S.C. '3604(c) because of discriminatory statements she made, which indicate a preference for religion.  

A discrimination claim under the Fair Housing Act can be brought under two general theories:   disparate treatment and disparate impact.   Plaintiff=s claims are based on the disparate treatment theory.  This is considered the most easily understood type of discrimination. The defendant simply treats some people less favorably than others because of their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.   Teamsters v. United States, 431 U.S. 324, 335-36 n. 15 (1977).   These two theories are also found in Title VII employment discrimination law, and courts generally rely on these Title VII precedents for guidance in housing discrimination cases.
   

One strand of disparate treatment theory involves discrimination based on impermissible stereotyping on the basis of sex or gender.  This is the basis for plaintiff=s sex discrimination claim.  As the United States Supreme Court has affirmed in the Title VII employment discrimination context, discrimination against a woman based on unsupported sex or gender stereotypes is a prohibited form of disparate treatment. City of Los Angeles Dep=t of Water & Power v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702, 707 (1978).  After Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989) there is no doubt that an employer who treats a female employee adversely because she fails to conform to certain gender stereotypes has violated Title VII.   The Second Circuit, in particular, has led in the development of this branch of the law of sex discrimination.  Back v. Hastings on Hudson Union Free Sch. Dist., 365 F.3d 107, 119 (2d Cir. 2004); Barbano v. Madison County, 922 F.2d 139 (2d Cir. 1990).   

 The general standards for evaluating disparate treatment claims have evolved since the Supreme Court decided McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 1824, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973).   This Title VII employment discrimination case established an analytical framework for deciding intentional discrimination cases in which the plaintiff produces circumstantial evidence.  The McDonnell Douglas paradigm has played a central role in the development of employment and housing discrimination cases.
  

 In Price Waterhouse, the Supreme Court not only recognized the discriminatory effects of gender stereotypes in the employment field, the Court also created a different methodology for analyzing Title VII cases involving Amixed motives.@ Recognizing that the McDonnell Douglas framework was based on the theory that either a legitimate or an illegitimate factor was the sole reason behind an adverse employment action, the Price Waterhouse Court determined that the words Abecause of@ in Title VII do not indicate that discrimination must be the sole reason for an adverse action in order to prove a violation.  Instead the standard for finding a violation and shifting the burden of persuasion is whether the illegitimate factor was a Amotivating@ factor; that is, was the illegitimate factor one reason out of several upon which the employer relied.  

Defendant has also discriminated against plaintiff on the basis of religion.  Plaintiff=s claim of religious discrimination is supported by direct evidence.  In discrimination cases involving direct evidence, it not necessary to rely on a McDonnell Douglas prima facie case concept, because if the direct evidence is believed then discrimination may be found.  

3.   Summary Judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact 
 Plaintiff  moves for summary judgment on her sex discrimination and religious discrimination claims.  As the moving party, plaintiff must show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that she is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, supra.  Even assuming that the court draws all reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the non-moving party, plaintiff can demonstrate based on the undisputed evidence of record that she is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on her housing discrimination claims.

 a.  Evidence of Housing Discrimination Based on Sex
 The record contains substantial direct and indirect evidence that defendant discriminated against plaintiff because of her sex.  Specifically, defendant attempted to evict Ms. Bouley less than 72 hours after Ms. Bouley called the police and had her husband arrested for a criminal assault against her.  Defendant claims that she sought Ms. Bouley=s eviction because Ms. Bouley violated the terms of the lease and hollered, screamed and threatened her, during a meeting, three days after the domestic violence.  This rationale is completely negated by the facts:  (1) that Ms. Bouley was an innocent victim of criminal attack by her husband; (2) that defendant began actively planning for Ms. Bouley=s eviction as soon as she found out about the violence (two days before their meeting), and (3) that defendant was actually motivated to try to evict Ms. Bouley because of her belief in certain gender stereotypes of victims of domestic violence.

There is undisputed evidence that defendant began to actively plan for plaintiff=s eviction as soon as she found out about the domestic violence.
  This was two days before the October 18th meeting.   There is undisputed evidence that defendant had received only negative (and false) information, from her agent and from the mother of the abuser, about the domestic violence before she met with plaintiff.  This information, upon which defendant based her initial judgments about plaintiff, portrayed plaintiff as someone who had exaggerated her injuries to Aset up@ her husband.  It was based on defendant=s agent gender-stereotyped judgments that plaintiff had not actually experienced violence, because she did not see any marks on plaintiff (except maybe a Apuffy lip); because plaintiff did not seem concerned about her husband and because plaintiff was not Ain shock.@ (Young Dep. at 35:11-25; 36:1-8; 44:1-21).  Defendant acknowledged that she relied on the judgments of her agent.  (Young-Sabourin Dep. at 54:8-15).   In contrast, to these negative opinions of Ms. Bouley, defendant held a positive view of the abuser, whom she considered honorable and upright, when he contacted her after the incident to discuss repairing the property damage he had caused (Young-Sabourin Dep. at 66:19-21; 68:1-11; 69:8-23).   

The harsh judgments of defendant=s agent, the abuser=s mother in law, and the defendant reveal that false gender stereotypes of female victims of domestic violence were a motivating factor in defendant=s decision to evict plaintiff.   Defendant has admitted that she considered plaintiff to be equally responsible for the domestic violence, after she met with plaintiff on October 18, 2003 (Young-Sabourin Dep. at 82:2-12).  She also stated that she did not consider plaintiff=s Abehavior anywheres near normal for a woman that had been victimized.@  (Young Sabourin dep. at 95:16-18).  

 According to the declaration of Sharon Lamb, Ed.D, a licensed psychologist (who is an expert in the field of female abuse and victimization, with special emphasis on stereotypes and images of female abuse victims), defendant acted to evict Ms. Bouley based on three gender stereotypes.  First domestic violence can be provoked and that sometimes, and in this case, the violence is mutual.  Second that victims do not get angry and that in this case, Ms. Bouley=s anger was proof that she had violent potential.  Third that men who appear Aupright@ and Ahonorable@ don=t abuse their wives  (Lamb Declaration, para. 38, Exhibit J).

b.  Discrimination Based on Gender Stereotyping is Prohibited
Since 1978, the United States Supreme Court has condemned gender stereotyping in Title VII employment discrimination cases.  City of Los Angeles Dep=t of Water & Poer v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702, 707 (1978).  In Manhart, the court noted that:

It is now well recognized that employment decisions cannot be

predicated on mere Astereotyped@ impressions about the characteristics

of males and females.  Myths and purely habitual assumptions about

a woman=s inability to perform certain kinds of work are no longer acceptable

reasons for refusing to employ qualified individuals or for paying them less.  Id.

In Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, the Supreme Court addressed gender stereotyping in the context of an employment discrimination suit brought by a woman who had been denied a partnership.  The Court reviewed evidence that some of the partners considering the plaintiff=s promotion made statements that she was too Aaggressive,@and that she should take Aa course at charm school.@ 490 U.S. at 235.  When her supervisor told her she would not be promoted he advised her to Awalk more femininely, talk more femininely, dress more femininely, wear make-up, have her hair styled, and wear jewelry.@  Id.   The court concluded that these statements Ashowed sex stereotyping at work....@  430 U.S. 250.   For purposes of analyzing a sex discrimination claim, the court stated that: A[i]n the specific context of sex stereotyping, an employer who acts on the basis of a belief that a woman cannot properly have a certain characteristic@ has acted on the basis of gender.@ Id.  109 S.Ct. 1790-91.  The Court further explained that we are beyond the day when an employer could evaluate employees by assuming or insisting that they matched the stereotype associated with their group.  Id. at 250-251.  

In addition to finding that sex stereotyping provides evidence of discrimination, Price Waterhouse offered a framework for analyzing mixed motive discrimination cases, which marked a departure from the single motive analysis articulated in McDonnell Douglas.   Under the Price Waterhouse approach, a plaintiff has the burden of persuasion on the issue of whether a protected characteristic was a motivating factor in the adverse action taken against her.    Justice Brennan=s opinion for the plurality in Price Waterhouse defined Amotivating factor@ as Aif we asked the employer at the moment of decision what its reasons were and if we received a truthful response, one of those reasons would be that the applicant or employee was a woman.@ Id., at 250.        
Adapting this definition to the facts in this case, if we asked the defendant at the moment of decision what her reasons were, and if she gave a truthful response, one of those reasons would be that Ms. Bouley was a female victim of domestic violence.  This conclusion is supported by the substantial evidence of record, including the sequence and timing of the eviction, immediately following an act of domestic violence.
   It is also supported by the plain language and logic of defendant=s eviction letter.    The key language is:

The purpose of my visit this morning was to try to work things out

between you, your agreement in your lease, and the other tenants in

the building.  I felt very disappointed in the fact that you started to

holler and scream and threaten me, in my efforts to help you.  This

could only lead me to believe that the violence that has been happening

in your unit would continue and that I must give you a 30 day notice to

leave the premises.  (Emphasis added.)     

This letter demonstrates that the defendant unfairly blamed Ms. Bouley for the domestic violence.  Despite all of the objective evidence to the contrary, the defendant considered Ms. Bouley responsible for the domestic violence which had been occurring in her unit.  This erroneous judgment was based on stereotypes about victims of domestic violence.  These stereotypes, as identified by Sharon Lamb, are that women are responsible for the violence committed against them, that innocent women do not get angry and that men who appear honorable do not abuse their wives (Lamb Declaration, papa. 38, Exhibit J).  These gender stereotypes motivated defendant to attempt to evict Ms. Bouley and her children.          

Under the Price Waterhouse, Amixed motive@ framework, once a plaintiff has established that gender was a motivating factor in a discrimination case, the burden of persuasion shifts and the defendant has to prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that she would have taken the same action for legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons.  490 U.S. 270-271.    Defendant will not be able to meet this burden of proof.   The evidence of record convincingly demonstrates that defendant=s actions were motivated by illegal considerations of gender, including her substantial reliance on false gender stereotypes of victims of domestic violence.
  
Plaintiff is a female victim of domestic violence.  Domestic violence victims have historically endured discrimination in housing, in the workplace and in the civil and criminal justice systems.  These forms of discrimination perpetuate unacceptably high rates of domestic violence in our contemporary society, and make it unreasonably difficult for women to end abusive relationships.  Harmful gender stereotypes promote discrimination against female victims of domestic violence.  The defendant=s decision to evict Ms. Bouley and her children was based on impermissible stereotypical beliefs regarding the characteristics of an innocent female victim.  Defendant=s direct and undeniable reliance on impermissible gender stereotypes, which caused defendant to attempt to evict plaintiff, discriminated against plaintiff because of her sex as a matter of law and support an award of summary judgment on plaintiff=s sex discrimination claims.   
c.  Evidence of Housing Discrimination Based on Religion
Plaintiff also claims that defendant discriminated against her based on religion.  Defendant is a member of the Catholic Church.  She is a former teacher of Christian Development and Scripture at Rice High School and Director of Religious Education at Holy Cross Church (Young Sabourin Dep.at 16).  Defendant has admitted that when she met with plaintiff on October 18, 2003, she asked her if she Areceived strength in her faith.@  Defendant has also admitted that Ms. Bouley told her she did not want to discuss her religion with her landlord.  Defendant has admitted that she would not have evicted Ms. Bouley if she had answered Ayes@ she received a lot of strength from her faith.  Thus the defendant was applying an unwritten and illegal religious test.  Ms. Bouley by invoking her right to refuse to discuss religion, failed the test.
   Had she said Ayes@ she received a lot of strength from her faith, defendant would not have evicted her.     
A  My  intent there was to B if she said yes, I get a lot of strength from my religious 
    practices or whatever, would be to encourage her and her to do that.@
Q  Would you have evicted her then if she had said that?

A. Excuse me?  Would you explain that?

Q.  Would you have attempted to evict her if she had said that, yes, she gets

strength from her religious beliefs?

A.   No, I would be very happy if she did.  

Q.  You would not have evicted her?

A.   No, ...  

(Young-Sabourin Dep. at 86:21-25; 87:1-3).  
These admissions are direct evidence that defendant discriminated against plaintiff based on religion.   At the time and place of this discussion, defendant was trying to decide whether to terminate Ms. Bouley=s tenancy and evict her and her family.
  In this context, it is clearly illegal for a landlord to ask a tenant about religion.  Under the federal Fair Housing Act, religion is an illegal consideration in a private housing transaction.  

There is additional evidence in the record demonstrating that defendant provided preferential terms and conditions to the Selengbe family based on their shared religion.  This clearly violates the 42 U.S.C. '3604(b), by imposing different terms and conditions on a tenant because of religion.   The evidence of differential treatment because of religion is based on the fact that the Selengbes are members of the local Catholic Church (Selengbe Dep. at 9:12-15).  When they moved into defendant=s 2nd floor apartment in February, 2001 their rent was $700, although the prior tenants had been paying $780 per month for the same apartment (See Defendant=s Answer to Interrogatory No. 3, Plaintiff=s First Set of Interrogatories, Exhibit H).  The Selengbes did not have to sign a lease (until January 1, 2003) and they have never had to pay a security deposit, although this is contrary to defendant=s practice and policy, (Exhibit L; Young-Sabourin Dep. at 36; Answer to Interrogatories 6 and 7, Exhibit H).  

When the first floor apartment became vacant in the summer of 2003 defendant offered the Selengbes the choice of remaining in the second floor apartment or moving to the first floor (Selengbe Dep. at 9:17-25; 10:1-22).  They decided to move to the first floor because it was basically the same size, they could use the front yard, and they could use the  washing machine and dryer, which was provided to the first floor tenants.  Defendant kept the rent at $800 per month for the first floor apartment and although their lease has expired since they moved to the first floor, defendant has not raised their rent over $800 to date (Exhibit L).  In contrast, when the Selengbes moved out of the second floor apartment (they had been paying $780), defendant immediately placed it on the open market for a rent of $950.  Thus although the Selengbes had been paying $780 per month in the summer of 2003, Ms. Bouley=s family was charged  $950 per month for the same apartment in August, 2003 (subject to the previous tenant=s wear and tear, including faded and stained carpeting) (Exhibit H and Declaration of Quinn Bouley).  So while Ms. Bouley=s family was paying $950 per month for the upstairs three bedroom, the Selengbe=s were paying $800 per month for the downstairs three bedroom.  

II.   DEFENDANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT
A.  Introduction
Plaintiff incorporates all of the legal and factual arguments presented in support of Plaintiff=s Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, supra, pp.  The undisputed evidence of record convincingly supports a finding that plaintiff, not defendant, is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on plaintiff=s claims of discrimination based on sex and religion.   Summary judgment cannot be properly awarded to defendant because there are material issues of fact in dispute as to whether defendant has alleged a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for attempting to evict plaintiff.  


B.  McDonnell Douglas
Defendant relies on the McDonnell Douglas analysis for seeking summary judgment in plaintiff=s discrimination case.  Under this framework--adapted for a Title VIII eviction case--a plaintiff can establish a prima facie case of intentional discrimination by showing:  (1)  plaintiff belongs to a protected class under the Fair Housing Act; (2) defendant was aware of plaintiff=s membership in that class; (3) plaintiff was willing and qualified to continue renting the apartment; and (4) defendant refused to permit plaintiff to continue to rent the apartment.  
Plaintiff satisfies the requirements of a prima facie case of housing discrimination. First plaintiff is a member of a protected class under the Fair Housing Act, because she is a woman.  Second defendant knew that plaintiff was a woman.  Third plaintiff was willing and qualified to continue renting her apartment.  In fact, plaintiff did successfully continue renting her apartment following defendant=s attempt to evict her.  Fourth defendant refused to permit plaintiff to continue renting the apartment by attempting to evict her.   

Since plaintiff has satisfied the requirements of a prima facie case, it is the defendant=s turn to articulate some legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for her action.  Defendant has denied that she attempted to evict Ms. Bouley for discriminatory reasons.  Defendant claims that she tried to evict Ms. Bouley because she violated the terms of the lease and hollered, screamed and threatened her.
  Ms. Bouley has denied hollering, screaming and threatening her landlord (Bouley Declaration, paragraphs 62-70; Bouley Dep. at 84:12-25).  Ms. Bouley has also offered substantial evidence that defendant=s stated reason is not only a pretext for discrimination, but that the defendant=s statement itself, as set forth in the plain language of the eviction letter, provides powerful  evidence that defendant relied on impermissible gender stereotypes as the reason for attempting to evict Ms. Bouley.    

Following McDonnell Douglas, once the defendant has alleged a Alegitimate nondiscriminatory@ reason, the burden shifts back to the plaintiff to prove that this reason is a pretext for illegal discrimination.  Although at trial, the plaintiff must prove that defendant=s reason is a pretext by a preponderance of the evidence, at this stage of the litigation, to defeat summary judgment, the plaintiff need only show that material issues of fact exist as to whether the defendant=s reason for trying to evict her is a pretext.  Halbrook v. Reichhold Chemicals Inc., 735 F. Supp. 121, 124-25 (S.D.N.Y. 1990).   

Plaintiff has established that material issues of fact exist as to whether defendant=s reason for trying to evict her is a pretext for illegal discrimination based on her sex and her religion.   Plaintiff has repeatedly denied under oath that she hollered, or screamed, or threatened defendant on October 18, 2003 (Bouley Declaration, paragraphs 62-70; Bouley Dep. at 84:12-25).   This evidence alone is sufficient to deny defendant=s motion for summary judgment.  However, there is additional direct and uncontradicted evidence of record proving that defendant=s attempt to evict plaintiff was illegally motivated by her reliance on impermissible gender stereotypes and religion.    

C.  Evidence of Discrimination Based on Sex
The substantial evidence of record that defendant discriminated against plaintiff based on plaintiff=s sex, because defendant=s actions were motivated by her reliance on false beliefs and stereotypes of victims of domestic violence is set forth in Plaintiff=s Memorandum of Law in Support of her Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, supra, pp. 1-16.   To summarize this evidence: defendant drafted a document which indicates that she began actively planning Ms. Bouley=s eviction on October 16, the day she learned about the domestic violence, and two full days before her disputed interaction with plaintiff (Exhibit B).  Defendant also went to the police station on October 16, 2003 to find out if she had grounds to evict Ms. Bouley (Young-Sabourin Dep. at 55:22-25).  

Defendant, who was not present when the attack on Ms. Bouley occurred, relied on the description she received from her agent and daughter-in-law in forming her judgment of the facts (Young Sabourin Dep. at 54:6-15).   Ms. Young called defendant the morning following the violence.  Ms. Young has testified that in her judgment, plaintiff had not been beaten;  plaintiff was overreacting; and plaintiff showed insufficient concern for her husband the night of the violence (Young Dep. at 35:11-25; 36:1-8).  Defendant especially valued Ms. Young=s judgment on these matters, because Ms. Young had experienced physical abuse as a child (Young Sabourin dep. at 54:6-15).   

In addition to hearing from Ms. Young, before defendant met with Ms. Bouley on October 18, 2003, she had two other important phone conversations.  One was with Daniel Swedo, Ms. Bouley=s husband, and the other was with Mr. Swedo=s mother.  Mr. Swedo called defendant to offer to repair the damage he had caused by putting holes in the wall the night he attacked Ms. Bouley.  Defendant stated that she considered this behavior honorable and upright.  Mr. Swedo=s mother, Deb Perry, also called defendant and told her that there had been prior incidents of domestic violence between Ms. Bouley and her son and that Ms. Bouley was always Asetting up@ her son to get him in trouble.  (Young Sabourin dep. at 67:19-25).

Therefore, before meeting with Ms. Bouley on the morning of the 18th, defendant=s opinion of Ms. Bouley=s role in the domestic violence had been influenced by the opinions of three different individuals who all depicted Ms. Bouley negatively:  as someone who was not really beaten (because she had no visible injuries), someone who was overreacting, and, worst of all, someone who would Aset up@ her husband to get him in trouble.  The notion that Ms. Bouley would Aset up@ her husband to get him in trouble, was undoubtedly reinforced in the defendant=s mind, based on her assessment of Mr. Swedo=s behavior as honorable and upright (Young-Sabourin Dep. at 66:19-21; 68:1-11; 69:8-23).  Of course, as the police reports verify, this version of the facts is objectively false and highly distorted.  It highlights the extent to which negative stereotypes of women and female victims of domestic violence motivated the defendant=s actions against Ms. Bouley.

Even the logic expressed in defendant=s October 18 eviction letter to Ms. Bouley, demonstrates defendant=s adherence to gender stereotypes about victims of domestic violence.  For example, two commonly held false stereotypes are (1) that victims are responsible for the violence and (2) that a woman who expresses anger cannot be an innocent victim.  Thus, instead of  proving a nondiscriminatory reason for her eviction, defendant=s own written conclusion:  that since Ms. Bouley expressed a flash of verbal anger, she must be to blame for the physical criminal violence which was perpetrated against her, is primary evidence of illegal gender stereotyping.    

 
 D.  Evidence of Discrimination Based on Religion
There is also direct evidence that defendant=s decision to evict Ms. Bouley was based on improper considerations of religion.
  Defendant has admitted that she would not have tried to evict plaintiff if Ms. Bouley, had answered during her conversation with defendant on October 18, that Ayes@ she received a lot of strength from her faith.   


 Defendant admitted this.  This is direct evidence of discrimination based on religion, as no inference is necessary to prove that defendant=s adverse action was based plaintiff=s failure to pass her landlord=s unwritten religious test and give the correct answer.  As set forth in greater detail in Plaintiff=s Memorandum of Law, supra, pp. 14-16, there is compelling evidence of discrimination based on religion, because defendant has provided preferential treatment to those tenants who share her faith.

Conclusion
Plaintiff=s evidence exceeds the minimal standard required to defeat defendant=s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff=s housing discrimination claims based on sex and religion, including discriminatory statements based on religion.   Plaintiff has established a prima facie case and provided competent evidence to contradict defendant=s alleged nondiscriminatory reason.  Plaintiff=s sworn declaration denying that she hollered, screamed or threatened defendant, establishes a genuine material issue of fact, since this was the alleged nondiscriminatory reason for plaintiff=s eviction. 

 In addition to plaintiff=s sworn declaration, there is highly probative evidence that defendant=s attempted eviction was motivated by her reliance on certain harmful stereotypes of female victims of domestic violence.  This evidence is based on defendant=s writings, (including her October 16 Alist of reasons to evict@ and her October 18, Aeviction letter@) defendant=s statements, defendant=s admitted reliance on certain stereotypical judgments offered by her daughter-in-law and property manager, Windee Young, defendant=s conversations with Mr. Swedo and his mother, as well as the opinions of  plaintiff=s expert, Sharon Lamb. This evidence of discrimination based on sex and religion not only supports the  the denial of defendant=s motion for summary judgment, as outlined in Plaintiff=s Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff=s Cross Motion for Summary Judgment it supports an award of summary judgment to plaintiff on her sex discrimination and religious discrimination claims as a matter of law.   

Dated at Springfield, Vermont, this 12th day of October, 2004.

_______________________

Meris L. Bergquist, Esq.

Vermont Legal Aid, Inc.

56 Main Street, Suite 301

Springfield, VT 05156

(802) 885-5181




�86.6% of violent victimizations committed by intimate partners, 1993-1998, were committed against women.  Callie Marie Rennison & Sarah Welchans, U.S. Dept. of Justice, Intimate Partner Violence (2000) at 8.  Women were 7.9 times as likely as men to be victims of intimate partner violence within their homes. Id. at 2.  See also, Declaration of Sharon Lamb, Ed.D, paragraphs 5-8, attached as Exhibit J).


�Women across the country are denied housing opportunities or evicted from their housing simply because they are victims of domestic violence.  Lenora M. Lapidus, Doubly Victimized: Housing Discrimination Against Victims of Domestic Violence, 11 Am. U.J. Gender Soc. Pol=y & L. 377 (2003).  Wendy R. Weiser and Geoff Boehm, Housing Discrimination Against Victims of Domestic Violence, 35 Clearinghouse Rev. 709 (2002).   The problem of workplace discrimination against victims of domestic violence is examined in Wendy R. Weiser and Deborah A. Widiss, Employment Protection for Domestic Violence Victims, 38Clearinghouse Rev. 3 (2004).  According to a 1998 report of the U.S. General Accounting Office, between 25 % and 50% of domestic violence victims in three studies reported that they lost a job due, at least in part, to domestic violence.  Id. at 4, n.4.  In  Nicholson v. Scoppetta, 344 F.3d 154 (2d Cir. 2003), plaintiffs brought a class action challenging a New York City Children=s Services Administration policy of removing children from their mother=s custody solely on the grounds that the mothers were victims of abuse.  


�In December, 2001, the U.S. Conference of Mayors determined that domestic violence is the primary cause of homelessness in eight major cities.  Eliza Hirst, Note: The Housing Crisis for Victims of DomesticViolence: Disparate Impact Claims and Other Housing Protections for Victims of Domestic Violence, 10 Geo.J. on Poverty L. & Pol=y 131 (2003)(Georgetown Journal, p. 1 n. 12).


�That was the second phone he destroyed that night in the course of his attack on Ms. Bouley.  He had previously smashed Ms. Bouley=s portable phone to prevent her from using it.  


�As one court noted, Aboth Title VII and Title VIII were >designed to eradicate the effects of bias and prejudice.  Their purposes are, clearly, the same; only their field of operation differs.=@  Beliveau v. Caras, 873 F.Sup. 1393, 1396 (C.D. CA. 1995).    


�AFor three decades the McDonnell Douglas or pretext analysis has been the centerpiece of employment discrimination law.@  Casenote, McDonnell Douglas, 1973-2003: May You Rest in Peace?  6 U.Pa.J.Lab. & Emp.L. 199, 200.  


�The day after the violence, October 16, 2003, defendant made a handwritten list of reasons to evict Ms. Bouley (Exhibit B). She specifically noted on this list as a reason for eviction: AViolent behavior-throw dishes-threats-police arrested Daniel on 10/15 for hitting his wife.  Apartment appears trashed-will check on Sat. the 19th have appt. w/Quinn.


October 17th St. Albans Police -524-5994- Joshua Tate.  Filed a report and have grounds for eviction.@  Defendant made these notes and took these steps before she met with plaintiff on October 18, 2003.    


�It is permissible to draw an inference of illegal discrimination based on an analysis of the sequence and timing of the events.  Ostrowski v. Atlantic Mutual Insurance Companies, 968 F.2d 171, 183 (2d Cir. 1992); Dister v. Continental Group, Inc., 859 F.2d 1108, 1115.   


�Defendant=s actions were also based on illegal considerations of religion, as set forth in greater detail, infra.  


�Ms. Bouley has stated that based on her experience in the business world, she knew it was improper for her landlord to question her about her religion while making a decision about whether or not to terminate her tenancy (Bouley Declaration paragraph 54).  


�Defendant began planning the eviction October 16, 2003 by going to the police station and making up a list of reasons for eviction (Exhibit B).  When she made the appointment to meet with Ms. Bouley she mentioned that she had received complaints about Ms. Bouley.  During their meeting, the defendant questioned Ms. Bouley about the rent, making noise, smoking pot and finally about religion.  It is understandable that this line of questioning would seem hostile and provoke an angry response.  


�See the October 18, 2003 letter from defendant to Ms. Bouley, attached as Exhibit C.  








